# EFFECTS OF PROTECTIVE NESTING SITE PROPERTIES ON GYRFALCON BREEDING SUCCESS AND PARENTAL INVESTMENT IN WESTERN ALASKA

by

Michael Thomas Henderson



A thesis

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Raptor Biology Boise State University

August 2019

© 2019

Michael Thomas Henderson

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

## BOISE STATE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE COLLEGE

# **DEFENSE COMMITTEE AND FINAL READING APPROVALS**

of the thesis submitted by

Michael Thomas Henderson

Thesis Title: Effects of Protective Nesting Site Properties on Gyrfalcon Breeding Success and Parental Investment in Western Alaska

Date of Final Oral Examination: 1 May 2019

The following individuals read and discussed the thesis submitted by student Michael Thomas Henderson, and they evaluated his presentation and response to questions during the final oral examination. They found that the student passed the final oral examination.

David Anderson, Ph.D.	Chair, Supervisory Committee
Jesse R. Barber, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
Travis L. Booms, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
Jennifer Forbey, Ph.D	Member, Supervisory Committee

The final reading approval of the thesis was granted by David Anderson, Ph.D., Chair of the Supervisory Committee. The thesis was approved by the Graduate College.

#### DEDICATION

To the conservation and better understanding of the Arctic ecosystem and its quintessential falcon. Seeing wild Gyrfalcons fly over the open tundra landscape and gaining an intimate knowledge of their nesting behaviors has had a substantial impact on my life. I hope our efforts, along with those of our collaborators and colleagues, help to preserve their grandeur for many generations to come.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am fortunate to have been supported by incredible people and organizations for the duration of my graduate schooling. The few words written on this page cannot fully convey my appreciation for all the various ways that my friends, family, and professional colleagues have helped advance this project and my development as a scientist. Funding was primarily provided by The Peregrine Fund and Alaska Department of Fish and Game. The financial support of these two organizations were fundamental to the completion of my research and I am thankful that they have had the forethought and dedication to set up a long-term research project on the Seward Peninsula. I also thank The Mohammed Bin Zayed Species Conservation Fund, The Eppley Foundation, and The Animal Behavioral Society for their generous contributions that helped to complete our field researched needs.

I would be remiss if I didn't first show my appreciation for my advisor Dr. David Anderson. David not only helped direct my academic career but also demonstrated that he genuinely cared about my personal and profession development and was clearly dedicated to ensuring that I succeed in all aspects of graduate school. I would like to sincerely thank Dr. Travis Booms for going above and beyond what I could have imagined a committee member could be. I have learned countless lessons and made many great memories in the field with Travis and I look forward to continuing to work with David and Travis into the future. I appreciate the support provided by Dr. Jennifer Forbey, her passion for and desire to understand the nature world is something I admire

v

and hope to emulate in my life. Dr. Jesse Barber has showed selflessness and a willingness to lend a hand by volunteering to join my committee at the last minute. He provided an excellent perspective and was a joy to work with. I could not have asked for a better committee, they challenged me while providing the ideal amount of encouragement and guidance.

Also, I would like to express my boundless appreciation for my family, but I will forever struggle to find the words that can adequately represent it. I thank you all for the love, understanding, and support that I have gotten throughout my life. To my mother, I thank you for being a steadfast force in my life, for always being there when I needed support, and for always believing in me. To my father, I thank you for being a good example of how to prioritize a fulfilling life rather than getting lost in the rat race and for the simple lessons that I was in too much of a hurry to see on my own. I cannot thank my parents enough for the lessons and life that they have bestowed to me. To the rest of my family who have always been there when the family needs to come together, I thank you. Also, to my girlfriend, Rochelle, I thank you from the bottom of my heart for the latenight edits, science conversations, and putting up with my neuroticism about my project. Most of all, I thank you for bringing so much joy to my life and being a constant source of happiness every day when I walk in the door of our home. To Brandon Wilcox, I thank you for all the great back country trips that have been the escape and adventure that has provided some of the best memories of my life. I look forward to many more memories with my best friend in the future.

I also sincerely appreciate the help that I received in the field. Devin Johnson has been in the field with me from beginning to the end of graduate school and has been a

vi

great field partner and friend. He has made the good times more enjoyable and I have always appreciated his positive attitude when things didn't go as planned. To John Earthman, I thank you for providing your local knowledge, helping us during the hard times, and for all the fun times and crab feasts. Also, I thank Peter Bente for recognizing the value of monitoring the Seward Peninsula Gyrfalcon population and laying the groundwork that was instrumental to my project. I thank Dr. Julie Heath for giving me such a great start in raptor biology and for continuing to provide that opportunity for future biologists. To Dr. Chris McClure, I thank you for providing guidance for my statistical methods. I also thank all my friends from graduate school who have made the experience so much more enjoyable. In particular, I want to note the contributions from my lab mates Christine Hayes and Bryce Robinson. Christine has helped me with my thesis and presentations and is a great friend and lab mate. Bryce laid the groundwork for my research with his thesis and had countless conversation about Gyrfalcons with me. I appreciate his friendship and my friendships with Caitlin Davis, Hannah McCaslin, Ariana Dickson, Abby McMurtry, and Ben Dudek. Having great friends to experience graduate school with is an experience I will not forget, and I am thankful that we all came together. I am sincerely thankful for all the aforementioned people and organizations that have supported me through this endeavor. I genuinely hope to have the opportunity to return the favor as well and pass it forward.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESx
LIST OF FIGURES xi
CHAPTER ONE: EFFECTS OF PROTECTIVE PROPERTIES OF NESTING SITES ON BREEDING SUCCESS AND PARENTAL INVESTMENT OF GYRFALCONS IN WESTERN ALASKA
Abstract1
Introduction2
Methods6
Study Area6
Study Species7
Fieldwork
Nest Camera Images Processing10
Statistical Methods11
Results14
Descriptive Statistics of Nesting Sites and Breeding Parameters14
Analysis of Hypotheses15
Discussion18
Tables26

Figures	
REFERENCES	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1.	Annual summary of data collected at Gyrfalcon nesting sites on the Seward Penninsula, Alaska from 2014 – 2018. Successful nests are based on nesting sites that were measured, not neccisarily encompassing all breeding attemps in the study area
Table 1.2.	Overview of models. Model names are consistent between all analyses. Predictions were based on observed effects in other species or common features of Gyrfalcon nesting sites
Table 1.3.	Descriptive statistics of discrete (A) and continuous variables (B)
Table 1.4.	AICc table for hypothesis one. Includes productivity, probability of egg hatch, and probability of fledge, given that hatch had occurred. Coefficients for informative models ( $\Delta AICc < 7$ ) are examined in Table 1.6
Table 1.5.	AICc table for hypothesis two, three, and four regarding phenology and parental investment. Includes hatch date, breeding season length, and nest attendance. Coefficients for informative models ( $\Delta AICc < 7$ ) are examined in Table 1.7
Table 1.6.	Coefficient estimates from analysis of hypothesis one models. Includes overall productivity, hatch probability, and fledge probability. Confidence intervals (85%) that do not overlap 0 are bolded. Parameter estimates of productivity models are log restricted and both hatch and fledge probabilities are logit restricted
Table 1.7.	Coefficient estimates from analysis of hypothesis two, three, and four regarding phenology and parental investment. Confidence intervals that do not include 0 are bolded. Models ranked below the intercept only model were omitted. Parameter estimates of both brood rearing period and hatch date models are logit restricted and parental investment is log restricted to display whether confidence intervals include 0

#### LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1.4. Effects of the horizontal exposure of nesting sites on the probability of Gyrfalcon eggs hatching, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. Eggs in sites with minimal horizontal exposure were more likely to hatch than eggs in more exposed sites. Vertical exposure was slightly, positively correlated with the probably of eggs hatching, but the effects had a large degree of uncertainty is likely biologically insignificant. Proportions are weighted by the number of eggs that were laid by individual pairs. ...... 35
- Figure 1.5. Effects of nesting site characteristics on probability of Gyrfalcon nestlings fledging, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. (A) Interactive effects of nesting site exposure on the probability of an individual Gyrfalcon nestling surviving to fledge. Horizontal exposure was negatively correlated with the probability of fledging in nesting sites with an average level of vertical exposure and the effect becomes increased (became more negative) as vertical exposure increases. In nests with less vertical exposure, there was no relationship between horizontal exposure and the

probability of fledging. Levels of vertical exposure are: 50°, 69°, and 80°. (B) Effect of an available refuge on the probability of nestlings fledging. On average, nestlings reared in a nesting site with an available refuge were 27% more likely to fledge, but the sample size of nestlings in sites lacking a refuge was small. (C) Effects of the accessibility of nesting sites to terrestrial predators on the probability of nestlings fledging. On average, nestlings reared in nesting sites that were not assessible to land predators were 24% more likely to fledge, though I observed only one nest depredation by a terrestrial predator in five years of nest camera photos. 36

- Figure 1.8. Nest attendance by adult Gyrfalcons during the brood rearing period, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 2018. (A) The proportion of time either adult tended to nestlings (incubating, brooding, shading, or feeding). Error bars are the standard deviation of the proportion of attendance of individual breeding pairs during each week of the breeding season, indicating variation between nests. Variation in attendance was minimal between nests early and late in the season, and highest during weeks two and three. (B) Proportion of overall nest attendance completed by female Gyrfalcons. Note the high variation in female attendance between nests throughout the breeding season. Individual female proportions are graphed in Appendix Figure 1.3.

- Appendix figure 1.3. Proportion of female attendance for individual pairs, throughout the brood rearing period. There was a high degree of individual differences evident, but the increase in female attendance after hatch is still apparent. Each "nest" represents an individual breeding pair. Breeding pairs that failed prior to week 3 were omitted from figure (nests 3,5, and 13). Incomplete data resulted from nestlings consistently residing out of the frame of the camera (nest 2), relatively early fledge (nests 6, 8, and 9), nest failure (nest 7), and the camera being installed after hatch (nest 14).42

# CHAPTER ONE: EFFECTS OF PROTECTIVE PROPERTIES OF NESTING SITES ON BREEDING SUCCESS AND PARENTAL INVESTMENT OF GYRFALCONS IN WESTERN ALASKA

#### Abstract

Habitat suitability for wildlife is defined at scales ranging from the landscape to an individual breeding site. Areas that fulfill habitat requirements for birds disproportionally maintain populations, and the identification of variables that distinguish optimal breeding sites helps to prioritize conservation. Nesting site characteristics that protect breeding raptors from harsh weather can promote a more favorable microclimate and increase breeding success, although previous attempts to understand this effect in breeding Gyrfalcons have yielded ambiguous results. Additionally, breeding adults incur substantial costs from the physical shielding of eggs and nestlings, particularly in the Arctic, and it is possible that protective properties can decrease nest attendance rates, thus lowering costs of breeding. My objective was to quantify Gyrfalcon nesting site characteristics and assess how breeding success and nest attendance varies by protective qualities of nesting sites. I studied Gyrfalcons on Alaska's Seward Peninsula from 2016 -2018 by installing motion-activated cameras to monitor breeding attempts and quantify nest attendance rates. I found that the degree of physical exposure in the horizontal plane was negatively correlated with the probability of hatching and fledging (providing hatch occurred), as well as overall productivity. The negative effect of horizontal exposure on fledging probability and overall productivity was greatest at sites that were also more

exposed in the vertical plane, although this interaction did not affect hatching probability. Productivity more than doubled in nests that provided a refuge in which nestlings could seek shelter, such as a crevice or an overhang. Additionally, nest attendance rates were highest in nests that were maximally exposed in the horizontal plane, particularly when nestlings were two to three weeks old. The increased parental investment and concurrent decreased productivity associated with horizontal nest exposure demonstrated that nesting site characteristics can have both direct and indirect effects on breeding Gyrfalcons. The compounding effects of poor nesting site suitability suggests that breeding sites are a relevant scale for effective conservation of Arctic breeding raptors. As the Arctic continues to see rapid increases in temperature and precipitation, physical protection of nesting sites will likely become increasingly important for the conservation of the world's largest falcon. Understanding factors that dictate habitat suitability, at all spatial scales, will help prioritize the conservation of valuable habitat as the tundra landscape continues to see accelerated climatic changes.

#### Introduction

Wildlife populations are limited by numerous biotic and abiotic factors that determine habitat suitability (Casado et al. 2008; Heuck et al. 2017; Møller et al. 2018; Murdoch 1994; Sinclair et al. 1985). Because habitat suitability varies across heterogeneous landscapes, wildlife often distribute in a non-random pattern, with areas of high suitability promoting higher fecundity (Ferrer & Donazar 1996; Fretwell & Henry 1970; Newton 1991; Orains & Wittenberger 1991). Breeding productivity is often used as an indicator of habitat suitability and the conservation status of wildlife, because changes in reproductive output can have significant effects on population dynamics (Anctil et al. 2014; Johnson & Geupel 1996). Because highly suitable habitats disproportionally maintain populations, identifying variables that differentiate areas of high suitability helps prioritize the conservation of specific habitats across broad landscapes (Newton 1991). Further, because habitat suitability is determined across multiple spatial scales, it is necessary to investigate as many meaningful spatial scales as possible, from landscape to nesting site (Luck 2002; Morris 1987).

Nesting site characteristics can affect productivity of birds by influencing the microclimate that nestlings and adults are exposed to during vulnerable life stages (Boukhriss & Selmi 2018; Fast et al. 2007; Kim & Monaghan 2005). For the purposes of this study, I defined a nesting site as the area of a cliff that supported and immediately surrounded a nest structure or the location where a breeding attempt occurred (Steenhof et al. 2017; Anderson et al. 2017). Protective properties of nesting sites such as the presence of an overhang, physical protections lateral to the nest, and a southward orientation can shelter nestlings from precipitation, strong winds, and provide increased sunlight, providing a beneficial microclimate for nestling development (Anctil et al., 2014; Fast et al., 2007). Thermoregulation is energetically expensive for nestlings and exposure to inclement weather increases this metabolic cost and may decrease physiological condition (Romero et al. 2000) or can result in the death of young birds (de Zwaan 2018; Polak & Kasprzykowski 2013; Stokes & Boersma 1998). Protective properties of nesting sites have been correlated with increased breeding success in Arcticnesting Rough-legged Hawks (Buteo lagopus; Beardsell et al. 2016) and Peregrine Falcons (Falco Peregrinus; Anctil et al. 2014; Mearns & Newton 1988) but it is unclear

if this pattern is present for breeding Gyrfalcons (*Falco rusticolus*), which are year-round Arctic specialists.

Reproductive attempts impose direct and indirect costs for breeding birds, many of which are precipitated by physically shielding nestlings (Royal et al. 2012; Santos & Nakagawa 2012). Maintaining viable temperatures of eggs and young nestlings when ambient temperatures are low requires consistent incubation and brooding, therefore increasing the daily energy expenditure, decreasing foraging time, and can decrease the body condition of breeding adults (D'Alba, Spencer et al. 2011; Weathers 1985; Williams 1993). Physical shielding of nestlings from the environment is one of the most energetically costly stages of avian life history and the cost is nearly double for Arctic breeding species (Peirsma et al. 2003; Weathers 1985; Williams 1993). Costs of reproduction can carry over to subsequent life history events, making breeding individuals less competitive and less likely to survive, thus reducing future reproductive fitness (Bize et al. 2004; Fokkema et al. 2018; Hanssen et al. 2005). Parental investment, defined as the amount of energy expended to aid current reproduction, may therefore be viewed as a trade-off against future survival and reproductive efforts, particularly for long-lived species like raptors (Golet et al. 1998). Birds increase parental care in response to the thermoregulatory needs of offspring, including shorter and less frequent vacancies from the nest with increased cost to adults (Cresswell et al. 2004; Webb & King 1983). Inclement weather can also increase nest attendance rates of birds and protective properties of nesting sites may ameliorate the need to allocate additional energy to nest attendance, thus reducing parental investment for Arctic, cliff-nesting raptors (Hilde & Christophe 2016; Hilton et al. 2004; Laux et al. 2016; Reid et al. 2000). Further,

passerines can modify their parental investment depending on nesting site accessibility to predators, but it is unclear if this is a concern for cliff-nesting raptors (Fontaine & Martin 2006).

Gyrfalcons are long-lived cliff-nesting raptors that breed in the harsh climate of circumpolar Arctic and sub-Arctic tundra (Booms et al. 2008). Anderson et al. (2019) found a non-random pattern of nesting site occupancy by Gyrfalcons, suggesting heterogeneity in habitat suitability on the Seward Peninsula, Alaska. Their attempts to model Gyrfalcon occupancy patterns as a function of home range-scale habitat variables yielded ambiguous results and raised the suggestion that habitat selection in this system may be directed at smaller spatial scales than the landscape. Gyrfalcons are predicted to be among the most vulnerable bird species to the effects of global climate change because of their narrow ecological niche and the rapid landscape reconfiguration occurring throughout their distribution (Liebezeit 2012; Tape et al. 2016; Tape et al. 2006). Additionally, precipitation can substantially decrease falcon breeding success and as these weather events continue to become more intense and frequent, the importance of physical protection of nesting sites are likely to increase (IPCC 2014; Min et al. 2011; Trenberth et al. 2003). Identifying nesting site characteristics that govern small-scale habitat suitability will strengthen our understanding of factors that influence Gyrfalcon breeding output and help us prioritize the conservation of areas for which they are best suited.

My objective was to quantify characteristics of Gyrfalcon nesting sites and determine the effect of these characteristics on productivity and parental investment. I examined the effect of protective properties to six breeding parameters: overall productivity, probability that an egg will hatch, the probability a nestling will fledge, hatch date, the length of the brood rearing period, and parental investment. I proposed four generalized hypotheses with specific hypotheses outlined in table 1.2.

- (1) Productivity is higher in nesting sites that provide properties that shield nestlings from the threat of inclement weather. Productivity was defined as the number of nestlings that survived to 80% of fledging age per breeding pair (Steenhof et al. 2017). I also investigated the effects on the probability of hatch and fledging independently from overall productivity because threats and sensitivities vary between these two developmental stages (Polak & Kasprzykowski 2013).
- (2) Eggs in nesting sites with protective properties hatch earlier than those that lack protections potentially due to earlier occupancy of highly suitable habitats (Newton 1991; Tschumi et al. 2014).
- (3) Nestlings reach fledging condition sooner in more protected nesting sites that provide more favorable microclimate.
- (4) Adults reduce nest attendance rates, thus decreasing parental investment, in protected nesting sites.

#### Methods

#### Study Area

I studied Gyrfalcon breeding biology on 4,800km<sup>2</sup> of the southern Seward Peninsula (65.37°N, 164.22°W), in western Alaska, a subset of a previous study area (Bente 2011; Anderson et al. 2019; Figure 1.1). The landscape is comprised of rolling hills of Arctic tundra with dispersed rock outcroppings and cliff-lined river systems that provide nesting substrates for approximately 14 Gyrfalcon breeding pairs annually (Kessel 1989, Anderson unpublished). The predominate vegetation type is upland-tundra comprised of mosses and lichens with dense willows (*Salix* spp.), dwarf birch (*Betula nana*), and alders (*Alnus* spp.) lining riparian areas (Viereck et al. 1992). The climate is characterized by long, cold winters and short cool summers. Early spring conditions, when the Gyrfalcon breeding season begins, can be extremely variable. Average April temperature range -10°C to - 2°C, and snow on the landscape persists until approximately the middle of June, with a high interannual variation. By July, average temperatures range 7°C to 15°C with an average of 9.27 cm of precipitation for the duration of the Gyrfalcon breeding season. Temperature extremes can range from -32°C early in the breeding season to 30°C in latter portion, exposing nestlings and adult Gyrfalcons to dramatic thermoregulatory challenges. The Seward Peninsula is an ideal site in which to study Gyrfalcon ecology because its road system allows relatively easy access to a moderately large breeding population (Bente 2011, Robinson et al. 2019, Anderson et al 2019).

#### Study Species

The Gyrfalcon is the world's largest falcon and populations breed at the northern limits known for raptors, as far north as 79° N in North America (Cade 1982). Gyrfalcons on the Seward Peninsula study area commonly occupy nests of other species, primarily Common Ravens (*Corvus corax*), Golden Eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*), and Rough-legged Hawks, but occasionally nest on bare ledges (Bente 2011). Gyrfalcons frequently nest under overhangs in areas where the geologic feature is common, but how this feature affects breeding output is unclear (Cade 1960, Poole and Bromley 1988a, Platt 1977, Kuyt 1980). The incubation period is typically 30 – 35 days and females perform 76% – 83% of incubation (Platt 1977). The brood rearing period is typically ca. 50 days and 75% - 100% of brooding is performed by females (Anderson et al. 2017; Platt 1977, Poole and Bromley 1988a).

#### Fieldwork

This study is part of a larger, collaborative research program on the population ecology of Arctic raptors performed jointly by The Peregrine Fund, Alaska Department of Fish and Game, and Boise State University (Bente 2011, Anderson et al. 2019, Robinson et al. 2019). I conducted fieldwork May to July 2016 – 2018, corresponding to the late incubation period through fledging for Gyrfalcons on the Seward Peninsula and I increased my sample size by including breeding data collected by Robinson et al. (2019) from 2014-2015. I measured the characteristics of nesting sites that were occupied from 2014-2015 at the end of the 2017 brood rearing period. We identified occupied Gyrfalcon nests by conducting aerial surveys of previously cataloged cliff sites (similar to Anderson et al. 2019; Bente 2011; Robinson et al 2019) from 2 – 15 May from 2015 – 2018 using a Robinson R44 helicopter. In 2014, a smaller subset of historical sites were surveyed from the ground during May to identify occupied sites.

In contrast to nesting site, I define a nest as the location where eggs were laid, which in this study was most often a stick nest and occasionally an empty ledge. I installed Reconyx PC800 and HF2X motion-activated cameras (hereafter referred to as nest cameras) at 53 occupied Gyrfalcon nesting sites to determine hatch date, number of eggs hatched, fledge date, productivity, and to record parental behavior on a subset of nests (Table 1.1). I accessed cliff-nests by rappelling down cliff faces and installed nest cameras during incubation when conditions allowed (n = 38) and installed the remaining

15 cameras within the first two weeks of the brood rearing period. The placement of nest cameras on cliff faces was approximately 1–2 m laterally from nests and 1 m above to capture the entire nesting site while ensuring clear images. To maximize the sample size of nesting behaviors while not exceeding the storage capacity of the memory card (32GB), I programmed camera settings as follows: medium-high motion sensitivity, two rapid-fire photos when motion activated, a 30–second quiet period following motion activation, and a motion-independent photo every half hour.

I measured protective properties of nesting sites and removed nest cameras after nestlings had fledged (>50 days after hatch) or nesting attempts had failed. To measure vertical and horizontal exposure of nesting sites, I established an origin directly behind the location that eggs were laid and used an angle ruler to estimate the degrees of exposure in both planes (Beardsell et al. 2016; Figure 1.2). It is important to note that I measured nesting site exposure but that the protection provided by minimal exposure is more biologically significant, thus I frequently refer to minimal exposure as having greater protection. I measured nest orientation with a handheld compass. I subjectively categorized the presence or absence of available refuge by assessing whether a site contained at least one structure that would provide protections for mobile nestlings, such as an overhang, crevice, or cave. Because there are minimal published values for nesting site and cliff heights for Gyrfalcons, I measured the angle and distance to the top of the structures with a clinometer and range finder and calculated the height with [sin(angle)\*distance=height]. Nest substrate can affect conductive heat loss, thus I categorized nesting substrate as stick nest, ledge with mulch (typically a highly decomposed stick nest), or bare ledge (Hilton et al. 2004). Nesting sites size may affect

productivity of Gyrfalcons (Mechnikova et al. 2011) but the size of the nest alone may be incomplete because nestlings commonly perch on ledges that are accessible from the nest. To calculate nesting site size, I measured nest diameter, calculated the area in m<sup>2</sup>, and characterized ledge size into one of four categories: no ledge = (0); ledge  $\leq 0.1 \text{ m}^2$  = (1); ledge 0.1 m<sup>2</sup> – 1 m<sup>2</sup> = (2); ledge > 1 m<sup>2</sup> = (3); nest continuous with the landscape = (4); i.e., nestlings could walk out of the nest directly onto the tundra). I subjectively categorized whether nests were accessible to land predators, particularly red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) and wolverines (*Gulo gulo*), by assessing if there was a clear path that would allow these predators to access nesting sites.

#### Nest Camera Images Processing

I determined productivity from camera images by counting the number of nestlings observed to have survived to at least 40-days old before leaving the frame of the images (Steenhof et al. 2017; Steenhof & Newton 2007). I considered fledge date as the day the final nestling of a clutch voluntarily left the nest at least once, and the brood rearing period as the length of time between the hatching of the first egg until the last nestling fledged (Steenhof et al. 2017).

To determine nest attendance, I reviewed time-lapsed images taken every half hour and recorded the date, time, whether an adult was present, and the sex and behavior of the adult. I classified adult behavior into five categories: incubating, brooding/shading, feeding, standing, and absent. Incubating and brooding/shading were both characterized by any contact with young or an obvious shading position and were distinguished by preor post-hatch, respectively. To account for researcher disturbance, I did not include data immediately following nest visits by researchers until an adult had returned to the nest. Additionally, nesting sites with large ledges were removed from nest attendence analyses when nestlings became old enough to leave the image frame. Adult sex was determined based on size (females larger than males) and individual markers of each parent, including the brightness of male cere, molting or leucitic feathers, and plumage differences.

#### Statistical Methods

To examine the effects of nesting site characteristics on breeding Gyrfalcons, I constructed regression model sets for each of my four generalized hypotheses and the probability of hatch and fledge in the statistical platform R in either base R and Ime4 (Version 3.4.2). Individual models represented different types of nesting site protections and other variable that may affect breeding parameters of Gyrfalcons (detailed in Table 1.2). For all analyses, I considered minimal horizonal and vertical exposure, inaccessibility to terrestrial predators, presence of a refuge for nestlings, and a southern orientation to be protective properties. I also included the effects of nesting site size (besides for the analysis on the probability of hatch), the nest substrate, and either an intercept only or a control model in all candidate sets.

I used Akaike's Information Criterion corrected for small sample size (AICc) to rank individual models based on their relative likelihood given a set of candidate models, with package MuMIn (Akaike 1973; Barton 2017, Burnham & Anderson 2002). I considered any model with  $\Delta$ AIC < 2 to have strong statistical support and  $\Delta$ AIC between 2 – 7 to have relevant but weak statistical support (Burnham et al. 2011). When assessing confidence in parameter estimates, I calculated 85% confidence intervals, to comply with the AIC paradigm (Arnold 2010). Additionally, all parameter estimates and confidence intervals presented are logit (binomial analyses) or log (Poisson and gamma analyses) restrained to assess if confidence intervals overlapped 0. I modeled effects only for those nesting sites for which all measurements were obtained and thus discarded nine nests lacking any relevant data, and three nests subjected to falconry take (i.e., falconers legally removed nestlings) for a final sample size of 45 nests. It was not possible to assess every response variable for all nests due to camera malfunction and other logistical issues, so samples sizes vary between analyses (Table 1.3). Because orientation is a directional (circular) variable, I normalized degrees to represent "northness" and "eastness" by calculating the cosine and sine respectively and included both in the orientation model for all candidate sets (Pewsey et al. 2013). Because ledge is an ordinal variable, ranked but with arbitrary intervals, I included linear and polynomial ( $x^2$  and  $x^3$ ) relationships in all nesting site size models for all candidate sets, besides the probability of hatch for which a nesting site size model was not included.

To test the hypothesis that productivity is higher in nesting sites that provide properties (hypothesis 1), I built Poisson-distributed, generalized linear models to fit count data that are not over-dispersed (Zuur 2009). I tested for over-dispersion with the "dispersiontest" function in the AER package, and was unable to find a statistical difference between the mean and the variance (p = 0.12; Kleiber and Zeileis 2008). I further analyzed if the effects of nesting site characteristics differed by developmental stage (eggs and nestlings) because survival is not constant throughout development (Young 1963). I built binomial, logistic regression models to analyze the effects of nesting site characteristics on the probability of hatch and then on the probability of fledging, only for those nestlings that successfully hatched. I did not include a nesting site size model for the probability of hatch because I did not have a biologically relevant, a priori hypothesis to justify how the size of the nesting site could affect an egg's ability to hatch. To test the hypotheses that eggs in nesting sites with protective properties hatch earlier (hypothesis 2) and the hypothesis that nestlings reach fledging condition sooner in more protected nesting sites (hypothesis 3), I built gamma distributed, generalized linear models because neither was normally distributed and were constrained to positive values. Additionally, I built a generalized linear model with a Poisson distribution to test the assumption that early breeders have higher productivity.

To test hypothesis that adults reduce nest attendance rates in protected nesting sites (hypothesis 4), I built 12 models but only included nine in the the AICc analysis. I removed an intercept-only model, an age-only model, and a model containing only a random effect of nesting site (ID) from the analysis because they performed poorly compared to remaining models. I retained a multiple regression model that included nestling age as a fixed effect and a random effect for nesting site (ID) as a control for variables that are not of interest but are likely to effect nest attendance. I included interactions between all model parameters and age because I anticipted nest attendance and the effect of protections to decreases with nestlings age (Zimmerman 1959). I included a random effect for individual nesting site in all models using package "lme4" to account for hierarchical structure and to avoid psudoreplication (Bates et. al 2014). I catorgorized behaviors into those that represent nest attendance (feeding, incubating, and shading/brooding) and those that do not (standing and absent). Nest attendance was used as the binomial response variable for all parental investment analyses. I restricted analysis to the brood rearing period because, prior to hatch, ca. 98% of behaviors were of

incubating adults, with little variation. I scaled horizontal and vertical exposure around their means because the large difference between exposure and age was causing model convergence failure.

#### Results

#### Descriptive Statistics of Nesting Sites and Breeding Parameters

I obtained data from 57 breeding attempts by Gyrfalcons 2014 – 2018 on the Seward Peninsula, Alaska. Of these breeding attempts, I performed analyses on 45 nesting sites (Table 1.1). Nesting sites were commonly inaccessible to terrestrial predators (74%), provided available refuge for nestlings (73%), and contained a stick nest (65%; Table 1.3A.). Nesting sites were oriented in all directions, and southern orientation was slightly more common ( $\chi^2 = 6.93$ , p = 0.07; Figure 1.3A). Horizontal exposure varied more than vertical exposure (Table 1.3B) and 88% of nesting sites contained an overhang, applying the overhang definition suggested by Beardsell et al. (2016; vertical exposure  $<90^{\circ}$ ). Nest size, cliff height, and nest height varied greatly (ranges: 0.12 m<sup>2</sup> – 5.48 m<sup>2</sup>; 5.74 m – 27.62 m; 1.0 m – 19.9 m, respectably). Mean productivity was 1.71 (range 0-4) and the mean number of eggs laid and hatched were 3.36 (range: 2-5) and 2.62, (range: 0 - 4) respectively (Table 1.3B). The average hatch date was 26 May (range: 16 May – 14 June) and the mean brooding rearing period length was 48 days (range: 35 days – 52 days). For nestlings with confirmed fates, 99 fledged (70% of outcomes) and most mortalities occurred early in the nesting period, either prior to hatch (n = 15, 11%) of outcomes, 35% of mortalities) or during the first week of the brood rearing period (n = 14, 10% of outcomes, 33% of mortalities). There was also a notable

spike in nestling mortalities during the fourth week of the brood rearing period (n = 10, 7% of outcomes, 23% of mortalities).

I collected 30,849 samples of adult Gyrfalcon nest attendance behavior by adult Gyrfalcons in 2017 and 2018 (Table 1.1). Nest attendance was nearly constant prior to egg hatch and during the first week of development, with little variation between nests (Figure 1.8A). During the second and third weeks of the brood rearing period there was a noticeable drop in nest attendance and a large increase in the variation among nests (Figure 1.8A). After week three, nest attendance and variation among nests decreased for the final four weeks of brood rearing period (Figure 1.8A). Females were disproportionally responsible for nest attendance. Before eggs hatched, females performed ca. 65% of the nest attendance and averaged ca. 85% for the remainder of the brood rearing period (Figure 1.8B). During all stages of the nesting period, female attendance varied greatly among breeding pairs (Appendix Figure 4).

#### Analysis of Hypotheses

Productivity was predominantly affected by the interaction of horizontal and vertical exposure, such that the effect of horizontal exposure was greatest (most negative) in nesting sites with more vertical exposure (Table 1.4; Figure 1.3A). The confidence interval for the interaction did not overlap 0, suggesting high confidence in the direction of the relationship (Table 1.6;  $\beta = -0.004$ ; C.I. = -0.0007 - -0.0002). It is worth noting that the confidence interval and predicted value of the high vertical exposure trend line in figure 1.3A exceeded the maximum clutch size of Gyrfalcons (five). I did not interpret the coefficients for the Horizontal Exposure or Exposure models, though the AICc analysis suggested strong and weak support (respectively), because the detected

interaction deemed them uninformative. There was also weak evidence for nesting sites with an available refuge having more than double the productivity compared to those that lacked a refuge (2 fledgling and 0.8 fledglings respectably), and the confidence interval did not overlap 0 (Figure 1.3B;  $\beta = 1.16$ ; C.I. = 0.69 - 1.71). Although  $\Delta$ AICc for the Accessibility to Predators model was > 7, it is worth noting that inaccessible nests fledged one additional nesting on average compared to accessible nests, and the confidence interval does not overlap 0 ( $\beta = -0.72$ ; C.I. = -1.38 - -0.16).

The probability of hatch was higher in nesting sites with minimal horizontal exposure and maximum vertical exposure, with no interaction (Table 1.4). The effect of horizontal exposure was much stronger than vertical exposure, and neither confidence interval overlapped 0 (Table 1.6; Figure 1.4; horizontal  $\beta$  = -0.026; C.I. = -0.033 – - 0.018; vertical  $\beta$  = 0.019; C.I. = 0.005 – 0.034). An increase of two standard deviations in horizontal exposure (centered around the mean), correlated with a 58% decrease in the probability of an egg hatching, whereas the same increase in vertical exposure correlated with only a 1% increase. Similar to the productivity analysis, I did not examine the coefficients from the Exposure Horizontal and the Exposure Interaction models, even though the AICc analysis suggested they were informative. The parameter estimate for horizontal exposure is more accurate within the Exposure model because the effect of vertical exposure is accounted for, although the effect size is similar in both models. I also did not interpret the Exposure Interaction model because it failed to overcome the penalty applied when adding an additional parameter in an AICc analysis (Arnold 2010).

The probability of fledging was affected by a suite of nesting site characteristics, but predominately by the interaction of horizontal and vertical exposure, consistent with results for productivity analysis (Table 1.4). The negative effect of the horizontal exposure of nesting site was intensified (more negative) by increased vertical exposure (Figure 1.5A; interaction  $\beta$  = -0.001; C.I. = -0.002 – -0.0006). Nestlings were unlikely to fledge from nesting sites that were more exposed in both planes (Figure 1.5A). There was weak evidence for a 27% and 24% increase in probability of fledge for nesting sites that contained a refuge (Figure 1.5B;  $\beta$  = 1.16; C.I = 0.426 – 1.908) and were not accessible to predators (Figure 1.5C;  $\beta$  = -1.01; C.I. = -1.799 – -0.231), respectively (Table 1.6). Although the Size of Nesting Site model's  $\Delta$ AICc was < 7, all confidence intervals within the model overlapped 0. Because this overlap suggests low confidence in the direction of the parameter estimates, I did not interpret them.

The length of the brood rearing period was affected exclusively by horizontal exposure, with more exposure correlating with shorter brood rearing periods (Table 1.5 & Table 1.7). An increase of two standard deviations (centered around the mean) correlated with a 4.7-day reduction in the length of the brood rearing period (Figure 1.6;  $\beta$  = -0.001; C.I. = -0.001 – -0.0003). All other nesting site models ranked below the intercept only model, thus I did not interpret their coefficients.

Hatch date was 7.9 days earlier for nesting sites that contained a refuge (Figure 1.7A;  $\beta = -0.053$ ; C.I. = -0.078 - -0.29) and 8.6 days later for nesting sites that contained a stick nest (Figure 1.7B;  $\beta = 0.06$ ; C.I. = 0.031 - 0.088), compared to bare ledges and ledges with mulch (Table 1.5 & Table 1.7). There was also weak evidence for more horizontally exposed nesting sites having later hatch dates than less exposed nests (Figure 1.7C;  $\beta = 0.0005$ ; C.I. = 0.0002 - 0.007), and interactive effects of ledge and nest size (Table 1.5 & Table 1.7). The positive effect of nest size was greatest when the ledge was

small with no effect on hatch date when the ledge was large (Figure 1.7D; Table 1.7). Additionally, early breeders had much higher productivity than late breeders, consistent with high quality site being occupied earlier (Appendix Figure 1).

Nest attendance was more frequent in nesting sites with greater horizontal exposure, but the effect decreased greatly and eventually disappeared as nestlings approach fledging age (Figure 1.9; Table 1.5). High vertical exposure slightly increased the effect of horizontal exposure early in the brood rearing period and slightly decreases the effect in the middle (Appendix figure 2; Table 1.7). There was also weak evidence for nests that were accessible to terrestrial predators having decreased nest attendance during the middle of the season, but not early or late (Appendix figure 3; Table 1.7).

#### Discussion

Protective nesting site characteristics were associated with increased breeding success, early phenology, and decreased parental investment for breeding Gyrfalcons. Additionally, protective properties were also associated with a greater probability of hatching and fledging as well. In particular, protections gained from minimal horizontal exposure seemed to be the most biologically significant property for Gyrfalcon nesting sites throughout my research on Alaska's Seward Peninsula.

Analysis of productivity and nesting site characteristics supported the hypothesis that nesting site exposure was negatively correlated with the breeding success of nesting Gyrfalcons in western Alaska. Importantly, I found the strongest effects of exposure when examining the interaction between vertical and horizontal exposure. The negative effect of horizontal exposure on productivity was greater (more severe) in sites with greater vertical exposure. Mortalities of altricial birds, such as Gyrfalcons, early in development coincide with a period of complete dependence on parental care for thermoregulation and protection from the elements (Gill 2007). Thermoregulatory ability of nestlings increases as the physiological mechanisms mature, mass increases, and feathers develop (Fortin et al. 2000). Previous research suggested that half of Gyrfalcon young die prior to fledging and that the majority of mortality occurs during egg and early nestling stages, consistent with my findings (Cade 1960; Nielsen 1986; Poole & Bromley 1988a). These early-life mortalities occurred during a life history stage when nestlings were particularly vulnerable to inclement environmental conditions. Gyrfalcon hatchlings have scarce primary down feathering and require two to three weeks to develop secondary down, leaving nestlings with a minimal thermal envelope during harsh early spring conditions of the low Arctic (Anderson et al. 2017; Chappell 1980; Kirkley & Gessaman 1990).

Before reaching thermoregulatory independence, nestlings are particularly vulnerable to the microclimate of their nesting site, which is governed primarily by wind convection, solar radiation, and moisture (Heenan 2013; Heenan & Seymour 2012; Webb & King 1983). Convective heat loss can be reduced by protective nesting site properties, such as minimal horizontal exposure, creating a more favorable microclimate for nestlings (With & Webb 1993). Vertical exposure of nesting sites likely imposes trade-offs because an overhang reduces the amount of direct sunlight, and thus solar radiation received, but also exposes nestlings to more precipitation and excessive heat later in the brood rearing period (Anctil et al. 2014; Poole & Bromley 1988a). The wetting of downy feathers significantly decreases thermal properties, and convective cooling increases dramatically when nestlings or nesting materials are wet, suggesting a greater cost of

convection for wet nestlings compared to dry ones (Nye 1964; Reid et al. 2002). This suggests that nesting sites with greater vertical exposure benefited slightly from additional radiation only if protected from convective heat loss by minimal horizontal exposure. Nesting sites that lacked a large degree of protection from wind and were exposed vertically experienced the compounding costs of moisture and convection and had exceptionally low breeding success. It has also been suggested that the ability to visually assess predation risks presents trade-offs with protection from the elements, such that protected nests reduce the ability of an incubating adult to detect approaching predators (Gotmark 1995; Fast et al. 2007). This trade-off seems unlikely for Gyrfalcons because during five years of nest image observations, I observed only one instance of nestling predation and there are minimal observations of nestling predation in the literature (reviewed in Booms et al. 2008).

Nesting site exposure affected eggs and nestlings differently, suggesting temporal variation in the environmental threats to offspring. Horizontal exposure correlated negatively with the probability of egg hatching, whereas more vertically exposed sites were slightly more likely to hatch and no interactive effects, in contrast with productivity analysis. The positive correlation between vertical exposure and the probability of hatching was not consistent with my predicted directionality, but the minimal effect size and lack of confidence in the coefficient estimate suggest that this effect is likely biological inconsequential. Unlike nestlings, wet eggs do not experience a dramatic increase in heat loss due to convective cooling compared to dry eggs, which may explain the lack of interaction between vertical and horizontal exposure on eggs (Webb & King 1983). Additionally, prior to hatch, adults incubated almost continuously which would

help keep eggs dry and likely reduced the negative impact of vertical exposure while promoting the positive effects of solar radiation. More horizontally exposed nesting sites, regardless of vertical exposure, had a much lower probability of hatching, likely due to convective heat loss during the coldest portion of the breeding season. Further, the thermal environment of eggs can affect nestling condition after hatch, suggesting that incubation conditions can have moderately long-term effects on young birds (Naas et al. 2009; Webb 1987).

For young that hatched, a suite of nesting site properties affected their ability to fledge. The negative effect of horizontal exposure was much stronger for nesting sites with greater vertical exposure, which likely drove the interacting effects on overall productivity. Nesting sites that contained a refuge for nestlings had a greater probability of fledging young compared to those that lacked this protective property. Refuges in nesting sites allow mobile nestlings to seek shelter from precipitation or unfavorable temperatures because refuges typically have a more consistent temperature than exposed areas (Fast et al. 2007; Glassey & Amos 2009). Nest camera images demonstrated that refuges were commonly occupied by nestlings, predominantly the larger and more developed nestlings, suggesting it may be an important resource for which nestlings compete. Nesting sites that were accessible to terrestrial predators were less likely to fledge young, but I observed no mortalities attributable to nest predation, so it is unlikely predation had a direct effect on Gyrfalcon reproduction in our study area. It is possible that Gyrfalcons interpreted inaccessible nests as higher quality, thus high-quality individuals occupied them, indirectly increasing the probability of fledging. The effect of nesting site size, although identified as informative by AICc analysis, had low confidence in parameter estimates and direction of the relationships, so results cannot be interpreted with any certainty, suggesting that more research is warranted.

Studies investigating nest exposure in circumpolar breeding raptors are few, and their support for the effects of protective properties on productivity are ambiguous or weak. In previous literature, nesting site exposure had no detectable effect on the productivity of Rough-legged Hawks (Beardsell et al. 2016), was negatively correlated with productivity of Peregrine Falcons, but only in the vertical plane (Mearns and Newton 1988), and had no detectable effect on Gyrfalcons (Barichello and Mossop 2011). I offer two explanations why findings in previous research offered only weak support for a correlation between protective nest properties and breeding productivity of Arctic raptors. First, horizontal and vertical exposure were combined in previous work into a single variable for exposure (Barichello and Mossop 2011; Beardsell et al. 2016), thus overlooking the interaction that I found to be statistically and biologically significant. Second, in some studies exposure was categorized subjectively, obviating analysis at more precise scales (Mearns and Newton 1988). My research is the first to investigate nesting site characteristics with use of precise measurements and to investigate the interacting effects of the two planes of exposure, which, if ignored, can mask effects of individual predictor variables (Jaccard & Turrisi 2003). Surprisingly, I found no effect of orientation on breeding productivity, although southern facing nests were most common. Nesting sites with a southern orientation receive more direct sunlight, which likely leaves them clear of snow in March and April when nest selection is occurring (Booms et al. 2008). The disproportionate number of south-facing nesting sites may be a consequence of availability during the sub-Arctic spring, rather than a

characteristic chosen to maximize breeding success. Additionally, the benefit of orientation may differ temporally such that early in the breeding season the increased temperature increases survival but later in the season can cause heat stress in nestlings.

Hatch dates were earlier for nesting sites that contained a refuge for nestlings and that had minimum horizontal exposure, suggesting that Gyrfalcons may preferentially select for nesting sites with these properties (Newton 1991). The effect of refuge should be interpreted with caution because of the small sample size of sites that lacked a refuge (n = 9). Surprisingly, nesting sites with stick nests were occupied later than bare ledges or ledges with mulch, in contrast to my stated hypothesis. Gyrfalcons do not construct stick nests and must compete for available stick nests with those species that do, namely Golden Eagles and Common Ravens, which can delay lay date and breeding phenology of raptors (Booms et al. 2008; Hakkarainen & Korpimäki 1996). Larger nesting sites, which typically included a stick nest built by Golden Eagles, were occupied later than smaller nests, possibly because eagles outcompete Gyrfalcons for nesting sites (Poole and Bromley 1988a). Competition for nesting sites among the raptor assemblage may disrupt selection for some nesting site properties, like those that contain a large stick nest, but not other properties such as horizontal exposure and refuge, which are less common in Golden Eagle nests (Poole and Bromley 1988b).

The length of the brood rearing period was shorter for nests that were more exposed horizontally, in contrast to my predicted direction. I can think of several explanations for this finding. First, nest departure by juvenile birds is initiated by increasing levels of circulating stress hormones (e.g., corticosterone), often facilitated by food restriction by the parents (Corbel & Groscolas 2008; Heath 1997). Release of stress hormones is also facilitated by exposure to inclement weather and can possibly cause nestlings to depart the nest prematurely, suggesting that not all juveniles fledge with ideal body condition (Romero et al. 2000). Nestlings that depart from nesting sites with high body mass are more likely to survive their first year, but we did not obtain pre-fledging mass, thus we do not know if birds that departed early reached a healthy mass prior to fledging (Mumme et al. 2015). Ultimately, there may not be value in staying in a nest that does not provide protections, because fledglings can search for more protected locations while still receiving parental care away from the nesting site (Platt 1976; Fletcher and Webby 1977; Bente 1981). Conversely, nesting sites with more horizontal exposure tended to have few nestlings, so it is possible that the reduction in sibling competition allowed for a faster growth rate and a shorter brood rearing period.

Nest attendance was highest in nesting sites that were more exposed, particularly in the horizontal plane, potentially increasing the cost of reproduction for breeders in nesting sites that lacked protection from the harsh Arctic climate (Cresswell et al., 2004). Precipitation and convective cooling also interact to maximize parental heat loss to the cold environment (Weimerskirch et al. 2002). Exposure to inclement weather has correlated consistently with significantly more weight loss in Arctic-breeding seabirds, indicating a direct benefit of protective properties for incubating adults (D'Alba et al. 2009; Fast et al. 2007; Hilde & Christophe 2016; Kilpi & Lindström 1996). Costs incurred during reproduction can decrease survival and life-time reproductive fitness in long-lived species, such as Gyrfalcons, and are driven primarily by decreased body condition (Golet et al., 1998; Hanssen et al. 2005; Stearns 1992). In the current study, fitness costs incurred during reproduction in more exposed nesting sites were twofold because not only did parental investment increase, but the additional effort was unable to offset the decrease in productivity.

Understanding habitat suitability and factors that affect breeding productivity are important components of effective conservation (Gaillard et al. 1998; Johnson & Geupel 1996; Luck et al. 2002; Newton 1991). My findings suggest that protective properties of nesting sites increase productivity and decrease the cost of reproduction for breeding Gyrfalcons by mitigating the negative effects of inclement weather. My results further highlight the importance of breeding site suitability when evaluating habitat quality. Precipitation is increasingly regarded as a primary factor reducing breeding output of circumpolar-breeding falcons and my results suggest that these effects are likely magnified by exposure to wind (Anctil et al. 2014; Mearns & Newton 1988; Nielsen 1986; Poole & Bromley 1988a). As severe weather events increase due to global climate change, properties that shield adult birds and nestlings from inclement weather will likely become increasingly important for Arctic breeding raptors (Min et al. 2011). Climatic changes in the Arctic are unfolding rapidly compared to lower latitudes, and Gyrfalcons are among the most threatened bird species to the negative effects of climate change (Buechley et al. 2019; Liebezeit et al. 2012; Thomas et al. 2004). Gyrfalcons and conservation efforts will continue to face novel challenges, but by understanding the contemporary effects of habitat characteristics and prioritizing areas that meet all scales of habitat requirements, we can ensure our readiness to preserve the world's largest falcon.

### Tables

Table 1.1.Annual summary of data collected at Gyrfalcon nesting sites on the<br/>Seward Penninsula, Alaska from 2014 – 2018. Successful nests are based on nesting<br/>sites that were measured, not neccisarily encompassing all breeding attemps in the<br/>study area.

Year	Cameras Installed	Nests Measured	Successful Nests	Quantified Parental Investment?	Parental Investment Samples
2014	10	5	3 (60%)	No	-
2015	13	10	8 (80%)	No	-
2016	6	13	11 (85%)	No	-
2017	13	15	7 (47%)	Yes	17,932
2018	11	14	9 (64%)	Yes	12,919
Total	53	57	38 (67%)		30,849

# Table 1.2.Overview of models. Model names are consistent between all analyses.Predictions were based on observed effects in other species or common features of<br/>Gyrfalcon nesting sites.

Model Name	Hypotheses
Accessibility to preds	Terrestrial predators, such as foxes, bears, and wolverines depredate accessible nests reducing productivity, probability of hatch and fledging, increase parental investment and the length of the brooding period. Accessible nests are also occupied later, suggesting they are lower quality. (Crabtree et al. 1989; Velando & Márquez 2002; Beardsell et al. 2016)
Exposure	Nests with greater horizontal and vertical exposure subject nestlings to a harsher microclimate, thus negatively correlate with productivity, probability of hatch, and probability of fledging. Exposure is negatively correlated with parental investment, brooding season length, and hatch date. (Anctil et al. 2014)
Exposure Interaction	Similar to Exposure model but the effect of horizontal exposure is dependent on the level of vertical exposure. As vertical exposure increases the effect of horizontal exposure will become stronger (more negative).
Exposure Horizontal	Nests with greater horizontal exposure subject nestlings to metabolic costs associated with wind, and therefore reduce productivity, probability of hatch, and probability of fledge. Horizontal exposure negatively correlates with parental investment, brooding season length, and hatch date (Anctil et al. 2014; Cade 1960).
Exposure Vertical	Nests with greater vertical exposure subject nestlings to metabolic costs associated with precipitation, and therefore reduce productivity, probability of hatch, and probability of fledge. Vertical exposure is negatively correlated with parental investment, brooding season length, and hatch date (Anctil et al. 2014; Cade 1960).
Nesting Site Size	Nestlings are more likely to accidentally fall from small nests, thus smaller nests have decreased productivity and probability of fledging, unless available ledge can compensate. Nestlings from smaller nests will fledge at a younger age. Additionally, smaller nests are occupied later. Effects are dependent on the level of ledge, which can compensate for small nest area (Mechnikova et al. 2012).
Orientation	Southern facing nests receive more sun, create a more favorable microclimate in early spring, and have higher productivity, probability of hatch, and probability of fledge. Southern facing nests also have decreased parental investment, shorter brooding season, and hatch earlier (Beardsell et al. 2016; Cade 1960).
Refuge	Nesting sites that contain a refuge for nestlings provide shelter from harsh weather and increase productivity, probability of hatch, and probability of fledging. Also, in nesting sites with refuge have\ shorter brood rearing periods, hatch earlier, and adults reduce parental investment due to reduced thermoregulatory needs (Anctil et al. 2014).
Substrate	Bare ledges do not offer insulating properties, and thus have lower productively, probability of hatch, and probability of fledging, compared to nesting sites that have nest structures. Breeding attempts on bare ledges have longer brood rearing periods, later hatch dates, and increased parental investment (Akreshetal et al. 2017).
Intercept Only / Control	Nesting site characteristics do not affect productivity, probability of hatch, probability of fledging, brooding season length, hatch date, or parental investment.

(A) Discrete variables				
		Num.		
Variable	Category	of Nests		
Accessible to preds	Yes	41 (74%)		
	No	15 (26%)		
Refuge	Yes	41 (73%)		
	No	15 (27%)		
Ledge	0	1 (2%)		
	1	13 (23%)		
	2	17 (30%)		
	3	10 (18%)		
	4	16 (28%)		
Orientation	North	11 (19%)		
	East	15 (26%)		
	South	22 (39%)		
	West	9 (16%)		
Substrate	Bare Ledge	8 (14%)		
	Mulch Ledge	12 (21%)		
	Stick Nest	37 (65%)		

# Table 1.3. Descriptive statistics of discrete (A) and continuous variables (B).

# (B) Continuous Variables

			Num.
			of
Variable	Mean $\pm$ SD	Range	Nests
Predictor variables			
Vertical Exposure	$69^\circ\pm27.84^\circ$	$36^\circ - 160^\circ$	56
Horizontal Exposure	$129^\circ \pm 51.65^\circ$	$65^\circ - 360^\circ$	56
Area	$1.09\ m^2 \pm 1.06\ m^2$	$0.12\ m^2-5.48\ m^2$	51
Cliff Height	$13.5\ m\pm 6.58\ m$	5.74 m – 27.62 m	45
Nest Height	$8.1\ m\pm4.22\ m$	1.0 m – 19.9 m	47
<b>Response Variables</b>			
Productivity	$1.71 \pm 1.50$	0 - 4	55
Proportion fledged	$0.69\pm0.40$	0 - 1	38
Eggs Laid	$3.63\pm0.67$	2 - 5	49
Eggs Hatched	$2.62\pm2.28$	0 - 4	48
Proportion hatched	$0.71\pm0.39$	0 - 1	48
Julian Hatch date	$146 \pm 7.14$ days	136 – 165	47
Length of Brooding season	$48 \text{ days} \pm 3.5 \text{ days}$	35 days – 52 days	27

Model	k	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	Weight	Cum. Wt
Productivity		0			0	
Exposure Interaction	4	-71.24	151.40	0.00	0.55	0.55
Exposure Horizontal	2	-74.55	153.36	1.96	0.21	0.76
Refuge	2	-74.96	154.18	2.78	0.14	0.90
Exposure	3	-74.31	155.16	3.76	0.08	0.98
Accessibility to preds	2	-77.80	159.87	8.47	0.01	0.99
Exposure Vertical	2	-77.98	160.23	8.82	0.01	1.00
Nesting Site Size	8	-71.29	162.27	10.87	0.00	1.00
Substrate	3	-79.75	166.05	14.64	0.00	1.00
Intercept Only	1	-82.17	166.43	15.02	0.00	1.00
Orientation	3	-81.46	169.47	18.07	0.00	1.00
Hatch Probability						
Exposure	3	-61.19	128.99	0.00	0.53	0.53
Exposure Horizontal	2	-63.06	130.42	1.43	0.26	0.79
<b>Exposure Interaction</b>	4	-60.91	130.88	1.88	0.21	1.00
Refuge	2	-68.63	141.55	12.56	0.00	1.00
Accessibility to preds	2	-76.45	157.19	28.20	0.00	1.00
Substrate	3	-75.32	157.25	28.26	0.00	1.00
Exposure Vertical	2	-76.69	157.67	28.68	0.00	1.00
Orientation	3	-76.02	158.65	29.66	0.00	1.00
Intercept Only	1	-78.62	159.33	30.34	0.00	1.00
Fledge Probability						
<b>Exposure Interaction</b>	4	-42.50	94.11	0.00	0.78	0.78
Refuge	2	-47.15	98.61	4.50	0.08	0.86
Accessibility to preds	2	-47.99	100.30	6.19	0.04	0.89
Exposure Vertical	2	-48.24	100.79	6.68	0.03	0.92
Nesting Site Size	8	-40.20	100.89	6.78	0.03	0.95
Intercept Only	1	-49.72	101.55	7.44	0.02	0.97
Exposure Horizontal	2	-48.82	101.97	7.86	0.02	0.98
Exposure	3	-48.11	102.87	8.76	0.01	0.99
Substrate	3	-48.95	104.56	10.45	0.00	1.00
Orientation	3	-49.20	105.04	10.93	0.00	1.00

Table 1.4.AICc table for hypothesis one. Includes productivity, probability of<br/>egg hatch, and probability of fledge, given that hatch had occurred. Coefficients for<br/>informative models ( $\Delta$ AICc < 7) are examined in Table 1.6.</th>

Table 1.5.AICc table for hypothesis two, three, and four regarding phenology<br/>and parental investment. Includes hatch date, breeding season length, and nest<br/>attendance. Coefficients for informative models ( $\Delta AICc < 7$ ) are examined in Table<br/>1.7.

Model	k	logI ik	AICe	AAICe	Weight	Cum. WT
Hatch Date	K	IUgLIK	AICC	Anec	weight	** 1
Refuge	3	-137.04	280 72	0.00	0.36	0.36
Substrate	4	-135.97	281.01	0.30	0.31	0.66
Exposure Horizontal	3	-138.22	283.08	2.36	0.11	0.77
Exposure	4	-137.10	283.28	2.56	0.10	0.87
Exposure Vertical	3	-138.71	284.05	3.33	0.07	0.94
Exposure Interaction	5	-136.96	285.58	4.86	0.03	0.97
Nesting Site Size	9	-131.48	286.58	5.87	0.02	0.99
Intercept Only	2	-141.85	288.01	7.29	0.01	1.00
Orientation	4	-140.94	290.97	10.25	0.00	1.00
<b>Brood Rearing Period</b>	l Leng	eth				1.00
Exposure Horizontal	3	-63.09	133.38	0.00	0.36	0.36
Intercept Only	2	-65.21	134.99	1.61	0.16	0.53
Exposure	4	-62.60	135.30	1.92	0.14	0.67
Exposure Vertical	3	-64.24	135.68	2.29	0.12	0.78
Accessibility to preds	3	-64.38	135.96	2.57	0.10	0.88
Refuge	3	-65.11	137.42	4.04	0.05	0.93
<b>Exposure Interaction</b>	5	-62.53	138.40	5.02	0.03	0.96
Substrate	4	-64.45	139.00	5.62	0.02	0.98
Orientation	4	-64.75	139.60	6.22	0.02	1.00
Nesting Site Size	9	-62.81	156.47	23.09	0.00	1.00
Parental Investment						
<b>Exposure Interaction</b>	9	-6180.70	12379.41	0.00	0.77	0.77
Accessibility to preds	5	-6185.93	12381.87	2.46	0.23	1.00
Exposure	7	-6213.55	12441.11	61.70	0.00	1.00
Exposure Horizontal	5	-6218.67	12447.34	67.93	0.00	1.00
Refuge	5	-6221.01	12452.02	72.61	0.00	1.00
Substrate	7	-6221.68	12457.36	77.95	0.00	1.00
Exposure Vertical	5	-6233.55	12477.11	97.70	0.00	1.00
Control	3	-6237.77	12481.54	102.13	0.00	1.00
Orientation	7	-6234.68	12483.37	103.96	0.00	1.00

Table 1.6.Coefficient estimates from analysis of hypothesis one models. Includes<br/>overall productivity, hatch probability, and fledge probability. Confidence intervals<br/>(85%) that do not overlap 0 are bolded. Parameter estimates of productivity models<br/>are log restricted and both hatch and fledge probabilities are logit restricted.

Model         Variable         Estimate         Std. Error         z-value         7.500         92.500           Productivity           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         -1.211         1.321         -0.92         -3.142         0.666           Horizontal exposure         0.015         0.011         1.42         2.57E-05         0.031           Vertical exposure         0.048         0.023         2.15         0.016         0.081           Exposure Interaction         -4.05E-04         1.72E-04         -2.35         -6.60E-04         -1.63E-04           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         1.719         0.336         5.12         1.237         2.203           Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004
Productivity           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         -1.211         1.321         -0.92         -3.142         0.666           Horizontal exposure         0.015         0.011         1.42         2.57E-05         0.031           Vertical exposure         0.048         0.023         2.15         0.016         0.081           Exposure interaction         -4.05E-04         1.72E-04         -2.35         -6.60E-04         -1.63E-04           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         1.719         0.336         5.12         1.237         2.203           Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.015           Exposure
Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         -1.211         1.321         -0.92         -3.142         0.666           Horizontal exposure         0.015         0.011         1.42         2.57E-05         0.031           Vertical exposure         0.048         0.023         2.15         0.016         0.081           Exposure interaction         -4.05E-04         1.72E-04         -2.35         -6.60E-04         -1.63E-04           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         1.719         0.336         5.12         1.237         2.203           Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Hatch Probability         Exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical expos
Horizontal exposure         0.015         0.011         1.42         2.57E-05         0.031           Vertical exposure         0.048         0.023         2.15         0.016         0.081           Exposure interaction         -4.05E-04         1.72E-04         -2.35         -6.60E-04         -1.63E-04           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         1.719         0.336         5.12         1.237         2.203           Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669
Vertical exposure         0.048         0.023         2.15         0.016         0.081           Exposure interaction         -4.05E-04         1.72E-04         -2.35         -6.60E-04         -1.63E-04           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         1.719         0.336         5.12         1.237         2.203           Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.009         0.004         -2.58         -0.014         -0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669 </td
Exposure interaction         -4.05E-04         1.72E-04         -2.35         -6.60E-04         -1.63E-04           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         1.719         0.336         5.12         1.237         2.203           Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.009         0.004         -2.58         -0.014         -0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Hatch Probability         3.043         0.713         4.27         2.071         4.126           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Horizontal exposure         -0.010         0.003         -3.56         -0.015         -0.006           Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.009         0.004         -2.58         -0.014         -0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Hatch Probability         Exposure         (Intercept)         3.043         0.713         4.27         2.071         4.126           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction
Refuge         (Intercept)         -0.442         0.333         -1.33         -0.963         0.002           Refuge         1.164         0.354         3.29         0.685         1.711           Exposure         (Intercept)         1.822         0.369         4.93         1.294         2.358           Horizontal exposure         -0.009         0.004         -2.58         -0.014         -0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Hatch Probability         Exposure         (Intercept)         3.043         0.713         4.27         2.071         4.126           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horiz
Refuge1.1640.3543.290.6851.711Exposure(Intercept)1.8220.3694.931.2942.358Horizontal exposure-0.0090.004-2.58-0.014-0.004Vertical exposure-0.0040.006-0.68-0.0130.004Hatch ProbabilityExposure(Intercept)3.0430.7134.272.0714.126Horizontal exposure-0.0260.005-4.91-0.033-0.018Vertical exposure0.0190.0101.850.0050.034Exposure Horizontal(Intercept)3.6690.6575.592.7764.670Horizontal exposure-0.0210.005-4.58-0.028-0.015Exposure Interaction(Intercept)1.6652.2350.74-1.8164.332Horizontal exposure-0.0160.015-1.05-0.0340.008Vertical exposure0.0410.0371.090.0010.102
Exposure(Intercept)1.8220.3694.931.2942.358Horizontal exposure-0.0090.004-2.58-0.014-0.004Vertical exposure-0.0040.006-0.68-0.0130.004Hatch ProbabilityExposure(Intercept)3.0430.7134.272.0714.126Horizontal exposure-0.0260.005-4.91-0.033-0.018Vertical exposure0.0190.0101.850.0050.034Exposure Horizontal(Intercept)3.6690.6575.592.7764.670Horizontal exposure-0.0210.005-4.58-0.028-0.015Exposure Interaction(Intercept)1.6652.2350.74-1.8164.332Horizontal exposure-0.0160.015-1.05-0.0340.008Vertical exposure0.0410.0371.090.0010.102Exposure interactionIntercept1.43E.042.36E.040.600.0010.002
Horizontal exposure         -0.009         0.004         -2.58         -0.014         -0.004           Vertical exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Hatch Probability         Exposure         (Intercept)         3.043         0.713         4.27         2.071         4.126           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102
Vertical exposure         -0.004         0.006         -0.68         -0.013         0.004           Hatch Probability         Exposure         (Intercept)         3.043         0.713         4.27         2.071         4.126           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102
Hatch Probability           Exposure         (Intercept)         3.043         0.713         4.27         2.071         4.126           Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102
Exposure       (Intercept)       3.043       0.713       4.27       2.071       4.126         Horizontal exposure       -0.026       0.005       -4.91       -0.033       -0.018         Vertical exposure       0.019       0.010       1.85       0.005       0.034         Exposure Horizontal       (Intercept)       3.669       0.657       5.59       2.776       4.670         Horizontal exposure       -0.021       0.005       -4.58       -0.028       -0.015         Exposure Interaction       (Intercept)       1.665       2.235       0.74       -1.816       4.332         Horizontal exposure       -0.016       0.015       -1.05       -0.034       0.008         Vertical exposure       0.041       0.037       1.09       0.001       0.102
Horizontal exposure         -0.026         0.005         -4.91         -0.033         -0.018           Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102
Vertical exposure         0.019         0.010         1.85         0.005         0.034           Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102
Exposure Horizontal         (Intercept)         3.669         0.657         5.59         2.776         4.670           Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102           Exposure interaction         1.43E.04         2.36E.04         0.60         0.001         0.000
Horizontal exposure         -0.021         0.005         -4.58         -0.028         -0.015           Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102           Exposure interaction         1.43E.04         2.36E.04         0.60         0.001         0.000
Exposure Interaction         (Intercept)         1.665         2.235         0.74         -1.816         4.332           Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102           Exposure interaction         1.43E         0.4         2.36E         0.4         0.60         0.001         0.000
Horizontal exposure         -0.016         0.015         -1.05         -0.034         0.008           Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102           Exposure interaction         1.43E.04         2.36E.04         0.60         0.001         0.000
Vertical exposure         0.041         0.037         1.09         0.001         0.102           Exposure interaction         1.43E.04         2.36E.04         0.60         0.001         0.000
Exposure interaction $1/3E 0/1 - 2.26E 0/1 - 0.60 = 0.001 = 0.000$
$Exposure interaction -1.45 \pm -04 = 2.50 \pm -0.00 = -0.001 = 0.000$
Fledge Probability
Exposure Interaction (Intercept) -6.266 2.652 -2.36 -10.228 -2.548
Horizontal exposure 0.057 0.020 2.80 0.029 0.088
Vertical exposure 0.130 0.047 2.74 0.064 0.202
Exposure interaction -0.001 0.000 -3.06 -1.50E-03 -5.52E-04
Refuge (Intercept) -0.201 0.449 -0.45 -0.860 0.445
Refuge 1.160 0.512 2.26 <b>0.426 1.908</b>
Assessible to preds         (Intercept)         0.892         0.237         3.76         0.557         1.243
Accessible to preds -1.010 0.541 -1.87 -1.799 -0.231
Exposure Vertical(Intercept)1.6740.6092.750.8112.573
Vertical exposure -0.015 0.009 -1.71 -0.027 -0.002
Nesting Site Size         (Intercept)         1.254         0.535         2.35         0.530         2.111
Area -0.647 0.496 -1.30 -1.413 0.044
Ledge 1.035 0.937 1.10 -0.306 2.427
Ledge $(x^2)$ -0.256 1.070 -0.24 -1.951 1.227
Ledge (x <sup>3</sup> ) -0.405 1.187 -0.34 -2.421 1.156
Area:ledge -0.867 0.862 -1.01 -2.139 0.400
Area: ledge $(x^2)$ -0.766 0.992 -0.77 -2.194 0.733
Area: ledge $(x^3)$ 1.166 1.107 1.05 -0.333 2.949

Table 1.7.Coefficient estimates from analysis of hypothesis two, three, and fourregarding phenology and parental investment. Confidence intervals that do notinclude 0 are bolded. Models ranked below the intercept only model were omitted.Parameter estimates of both brood rearing period and hatch date models are logitrestricted and parental investment is log restricted to display whether confidenceintervals include 0.

					Confide	ence Level
Model	Variable	Estimate	SEM	z-value	7.5	92.5
Hatch Date						
Refuge	(Intercept)	5.027	0.015	335.12	5.005	5.048
	Refuge	-0.053	0.017	-3.14	-0.078	-0.029
Substrate	(Intercept, Bare ledge)	4.943	0.018	274.05	4.917	4.969
	Ledge with mulch	0.018	0.023	0.76	-0.016	0.051
	Stick nest	0.060	0.020	2.99	0.031	0.088
Exposure Horizontal	(Intercept)	4.927	0.022	220.60	4.895	4.960
	Horizontal Exposure	4.88E-4	1.8E-4	2.726	2.30E-4	7.47E-4
Size	(Intercept)	4.97	0.01	444.90	4.96	4.99
	Area	0.02	0.01	2.06	0.01	0.03
	Ledge	0.06	0.02	2.64	0.03	0.10
	Ledge $(x^2)$	0.00	0.02	0.11	-0.03	0.03
	Ledge $(x^3)$	-0.04	0.02	-2.01	-0.07	-0.01
	Area: Ledge	-0.04	0.02	-1.88	-0.07	-0.01
	Area: Ledge $(x^2)$	0.02	0.02	0.97	-0.01	0.04
	Area: Ledge (x <sup>3</sup> )	0.02	0.01	1.32	0.00	0.03
<b>Brood Rearing Peri</b>	od length					
Exposure Horizontal	(Intercept)	3.945	0.047	84.52	3.877	4.012
	Horizontal exposure	-0.001	0.000	-2.11	-0.001	-2.65E-04
Parental Investment	ţ					
<b>Exposure Interaction</b>	(Intercept)	4.085	0.169	24.14	3.835	4.339
	Age	-0.26	0.004	-68.83	-0.265	-0.254
	Horizontal exposure	0.794	0.167	4.75	0.551	1.046
	Vertical exposure	-0.661	0.174	-3.8	-0.922	-0.404
	Age: Horizontal exp	-0.026	0.004	-6.19	-0.032	-0.02
	Age: Vertical exp	-0.003	0.004	-0.67	-0.009	0.003
	Exposure interaction	0.133	0.128	1.04	-0.055	0.326
	Age:Horizontal:Vertical	-0.028	0.004	-7.29	-0.033	-0.022
Assessible to Preds	(Intercept)	4.106	0.244	16.83	3.744	4.474
	Age	-0.252	0.004	-67.99	-0.258	-0.247
	Accessible to preds	0.888	0.572	1.55	0.065	1.773
	age: accessible to preds	-0.151	0.017	-8.82	-0.176	-0.127

#### Figures



Figure 1.1. Map of Study Site. I studied breeding Gyrfalcons within a ca. 4,800 km2 study site on the southern portion the Seward Peninsula ( $65^{\circ}N$ ,  $164^{\circ}W$ ), in western Alaska, 2014 – 2018. The Gray circle is a rough estimation of the study site to avoid divulging confidential nesting sites of raptors.



Figure 1.2. Representation of (A) horizontal exposure and (B) vertical exposure. To measure these angles, I established an origin directly behind the location where eggs were laid and used an angle ruler to determine the degrees of exposure in both planes. Also note the placement of the camera on the left of panel A.



Figure 1.3. Effects of nesting site characteristics on Gyrfalcon productivity, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. Productivity was defined as the number of nestlings to reach 80% of fledging age ( $\geq$  40-days) per breeding pair. (A) Interactive effects of horizontal and vertical exposure on productivity. The negative effect of horizontal exposure was greatest in nests that were more exposed vertically. Levels of vertical exposure are: 50°, 69°, and 80°. Note that although confidence intervals reached above 6 fledglings, the maximum clutch size for Gyrfalcons is five, and average clutch size is 3.63. (B) Effect of an available refuge on Gyrfalcon productivity. On average, productive was roughly double in nesting sites that provided refuge for nestlings to escape the harsh Arctic climate.



Figure 1.4. Effects of the horizontal exposure of nesting sites on the probability of Gyrfalcon eggs hatching, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. Eggs in sites with minimal horizontal exposure were more likely to hatch than eggs in more exposed sites. Vertical exposure was slightly, positively correlated with the probably of eggs hatching, but the effects had a large degree of uncertainty is likely biologically insignificant. Proportions are weighted by the number of eggs that were laid by individual pairs.



Effects of nesting site characteristics on probability of Gyrfalcon Figure 1.5. nestlings fledging, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. (A) Interactive effects of nesting site exposure on the probability of an individual Gyrfalcon nestling surviving to fledge. Horizontal exposure was negatively correlated with the probability of fledging in nesting sites with an average level of vertical exposure and the effect becomes increased (became more negative) as vertical exposure increases. In nests with less vertical exposure, there was no relationship between horizontal exposure and the probability of fledging. Levels of vertical exposure are:  $50^{\circ}$ ,  $69^{\circ}$ , and  $80^{\circ}$ . (B) Effect of an available refuge on the probability of nestlings fledging. On average, nestlings reared in a nesting site with an available refuge were 27% more likely to fledge, but the sample size of nestlings in sites lacking a refuge was small. (C) Effects of the accessibility of nesting sites to terrestrial predators on the probability of nestlings fledging. On average, nestlings reared in nesting sites that were not assessible to land predators were 24% more likely to fledge, though I observed only one nest depredation by a terrestrial predator in five years of nest camera photos.



Figure 1.6. Negative correlation between horizontal exposure of nesting site and the length of the brooding period, Seward Peninsula, 2014 - 2018. 26 nesting sites were included in the analysis of the length of the brood rearing period and the confidence interval did not include 0.



Figure 1.7. Effects of nesting site characteristics on the hatch date for Gyrfalcons on the Seward Peninsula, 2014 – 2018. (A) Clutches in nesting sites classified as bare ledges and ledges with mulch hatched at similar dates, whereas sites containing a stick nests hatched later, on average. (B) The effect of nest area was greatest when the ledge was small, but results are ambiguous. (C) Nesting sites that are less exposed in the horizontal plane hatch earlier than more exposed sites. (D) Nesting sites that contained a protective refuge for nestlings hatched earlier than sites that lack such protections, but again the sample size of nestlings in sites lacking a refuge was small.



Pre-hatch Week 1 Week 2 Week 3 Week 4 Week 5 Week 6 Week7 Nest attendance by adult Gyrfalcons during the brood rearing period, Figure 1.8. Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. (A) The proportion of time either adult tended to nestlings (incubating, brooding, shading, or feeding). Error bars are the standard deviation of the proportion of attendance of individual breeding pairs during each week of the breeding season, indicating variation between nests. Variation in attendance was minimal between nests early and late in the season, and highest during weeks two and three. (B) Proportion of overall nest attendance completed by female Gyrfalcons. Note the high variation in female attendance between nests throughout the breeding season. Individual female proportions are graphed in Appendix Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.9. Interactive effects of horizontal exposure of nesting site and nestling age on adult attendance by Gyrfalcons, Seward Peninsula, Alaska, 2014 - 2018. Horizontal exposure correlated positively with adult attendance for nestlings at ages seven and 15 days and the effect decrease as nestlings approach fledging age. The observed effects differed slightly at different levels of vertical exposure (see Appendix figure 1.4)

**Appendix Figures** 



Appendix Figure 1. Negative correlation between hatch date and the productivity on Gyrfalcons, Seward Peninsula, 2014 – 2018. Breeding early correlated with an increase in the number of young successfully fledged.



Appendix Figure 2 Effect of nesting sites being accessible to terrestrial predators on nest attendance. There was no effect at seven or 30 days old, but at 15 days assessible nests had a lower likelihood of nest attendance.



Appendix Figure 3. Proportion of female attendance for individual pairs, throughout the brood rearing period. There was a high degree of individual differences evident, but the increase in female attendance after hatch is still apparent. Each "nest" represents an individual breeding pair. Breeding pairs that failed prior to week 3 were omitted from figure (nests 3,5, and 13). Incomplete data resulted from nestlings consistently residing out of the frame of the camera (nest 2), relatively early fledge (nests 6, 8, and 9), nest failure (nest 7), and the camera being installed after hatch (nest 14).



Appendix Figure 4. Three-way interaction between vertical exposure, horizontal exposure, and nestlings age.

#### REFERENCES

- Akaike, H. (1973). Information theory and the maximum likelihood principle. In: Petrov BN, Csaki F (eds). Second International symposium on information theory.Akademiai Kiado, Budapest.
- Anctil, A., Franke, A., & Bêty, J. (2014). Heavy rainfall increases nestling mortality of an arctic top predator: Experimental evidence and long-term trend in peregrine falcons. *Oecologia*, 174(3), 1033–1043. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-013-2800-y
- Anderson, D. L., McClure, J.W. Christopher, & Frank, A.(2017). Applied Raptor Ecology. Boise, Idaho: The Peregrine Fund.
- Anderson, D.L., Bente, P.J., Booms, T.L., Dunn. L., & McClure, C.J.W. (2019). Nonrandom territory occupany by Arctic-nesting Gyrfalcons (*Falco rusticolus*). Arctic Science.
- Arnold, T. W. (2010). Uninformative Parameters and Model Selection Using Akaike's Information Criterion. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 74(6), 1175–1178. https://doi.org/10.2193/2009-367
- Barichello, N., Mossop, D. (2011). The Over-whelming influence of ptarmigan abundance on Gyrfalcon reproductive success in the central Yukon, Canada. *Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World*, 307-322.
- Barton, K. (2013) MuMin: Multi-Model Inference. R Package version 1.9.5.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker (2014). lme4: Linear mixed-effects models using Eigen and S4. R package version 1.1-7.
- Beardsell, A., Gauthier, G., Therrien, J.-F., & Bêty, J. (2016). Nest site characteristics, patterns of nest reuse, and reproductive output in an Arctic-nesting raptor, the Rough-legged Hawk. *The Auk*, 133(4), 718–732.

- Bente, P.J. (1981) Nesting behavior and hunting activity of the Gyrrfalcon, *Falco runsticolus*, in south central Alaska. Master's Thesis. University of Alaska Fairbanks.
- Bente, P. J. (2011). Abundance and multi-year occupancy of gyrfalcons falco rusticolus on the seward peninsula, alaska. *Gyrfalcons and Ptarmigan in a Changing World*, 295–306.
- Bize, P., Roulin, A., Tella, J. L., Bersier, L., & Richner, H. (2004). Additive effects of ectoparasites over reproductive attemps in the long-lived alpine swift. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 73(6), 1080–1088.
- Booms, T.L, Cade, T.J., Clum, N.J. (2008). The Birds of North America Online (A. Poole, Ed.). Ithaca: Cornell Lab of Ornithology.
- Boukhriss, J., & Selmi, S. (2018). Effects of temporal factors, nesting microhabitat and nest position on the survival of passerine nests in a Tunisian oasis habitat. *Journal* of African Ornithology, 89(4), 321-328.
- Buechley, E. R., Şekercioğlu, Ç. H., Santangeli, A., Girardello, M., Neate, M. H. C., Dave, C., & Christopher, O. (2019). Global raptor research and conservation priorities : Tropical raptors fall prey to knowledge gaps. 1–14.
- Burnham, K.P., & Anderson, D.R. (2002) Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical information-theoretic approach, 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Springer, New York.
- Burnham, K. P., Anderson, D. R., & Huyvaert, K. P. (2011). AIC model selection and multimodel inference in behavioral ecology : some background , observations, and comparisons, 23, 23–35.
- Cade, T. J. (1960). Ecology of the Peregrine and Gyrfalcon Populations in Alaska. *University of California Publications in Zoology*, *63*(3), 151–290.
- Cade, T. J. (1982). The Falcons of the World. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University.
- Casado, E., Suárez-Seoane, S., Lamelin, J., & Ferrer, M. (2008). The regulation of brood reduction in Booted Eagles Hieraaetus pennatus through habitat heterogeneity. *Ibis*, 150(4), 788–798.

- Chappell, M. A. (1980). Thermal energetics of chicks of arctic- breeding shorebirds. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology*, 65, 311–317.
- Corbel, H., & Groscolas, R. (2008). A role for corticosterone and food restriction in the fledging of nestling White storks, *53*, 557–566.
- Cresswell, W., Holt, S., Reid, J. M., Whitfield, D. P., Mellanby, R. J., Norton, D., Waldron, S. (2004). The energetic costs of egg heating constrain incubation attendance but do not determine daily energy expenditure in the pectoral sandpiper, 15(3), 498–507.
- D'Alba, L Monaghan, P., & Nager, R. G. (2009). Thermal benefits of nest shelter for incubating female eiders. *Journal of Thermal Biology*, *34*, 93–99.
- D'Alba, L., Spencer, K. A., Nager, R. G., & Monaghan, P. (2011). State dependent effects of elevated hormone: Nest site quality, corticosterone levels and reproductive performance in the common eider. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 172(2), 218–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.03.006
- de Zwaan, D. R. (2018). Substrate and structure of ground nests have fitness consequences for an alpine songbird. *Ibis*, *160*(4), 790.
- Fast, P. L. F., Gilchrist, H. G., & Clark, R. G. (2007). Experimental evaluation of nest shelter effects on weight loss in incubating common eiders Somateria mollissima. *Journal of Avian Biology*, 38, 205–214.
- Ferrer, M., Donazar, J.A. (1996). Density-dependent fecundity by habitat heterogeneity in an increasing population of Spanish Imperial Eagles. *Ecology*, 77, 69-74
- Fletcher, D.J. & Webby, K. (1977). Observation on Gyrfalcons Falco Rusticolus in northest Greenland. Dansk Ornithology, Foren. Tidsskr., 71, 29-35.
- Fokkema, R. W., Ubels, R., Both, C., de Felici, L., & Tinbergen, J. M. (2018).
  Reproductive effort and future parental competitive ability: A nest box removal experiment. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(17), 8865–8879.
- Fontaine, J. J., & Martin, T. E. (2006). Parent birds assess nest predation risk and adjust their reproductive strategies. *Ecology Letters*, *9*, 428–434.

- Fortin, D., Larochelle, J., & Gauthier, G. (2000). The effect of wind, radiation, and body orientation on the thermal environment of Greater Snow goose goslings, *25*, 227–238.
- Fretwell, S. D., & Henry, L. (1970). On Territorial Behavior and Other Factors Influencing Habitat Distribution in Birds. *Acta Biotheoretica*, *19*, 16–36.
- Gaillard, J., Festa-bianchet, M., & Yoccoz, N. G. (1998). Population Dynamics of Large Herbivores: Variable Recruitment with Constant Adult Survival, *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 13, 58 - 63.
- Gill, F. B. (2007). Ornithology (3rd Edition). New York, NY: W.H. Freeman Company.
- Glassey, B. Ã., & Amos, M. (2009). Shade seeking by Common Grackle (Quiscalus quiscula ) nestlings at the scale of the nanoclimate, *34*, 76–80.
- Golet, G. H., Irons, D. B., & Estes, J. A. (1998). Survival costs of chick rearing in blacklegged kittiwakes. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 67(5), 827–841.
- Gotmark, F. (1995). Nest Site Selection : A Trade-Off between Concealment and View of the Surroundings? *Journal of Avian Biology*, 26, 305–312.
- Hakkarainen, H., & Korpimäki, E. (1996). Competitive and Predatory Interactions among Raptors : An Observational and Experimental Study. *Ecology*, 77(4), 1134–1142.
- Hanssen, S. A., Hasselquist, D., Folstad, I., & Erikstad, K. E. (2005). Cost of reproduction in a long-lived bird : incubation effort reduces immune function and future reproduction, *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 272, 1039–1046.
- Heath, J. (1997). Corticosterone Levels during Nest Departure of Juvenile American Kestrels, *99*(3), 806–811.
- Heenan, C. B. (2013). An overview of the factors influencing the morphology and thermal properties of avian nests, 6(2), 104–118.
- Heenan, C. B., & Seymour, R. S. (2012). The Effect of Wind on the Rate of Heat Loss from Avian Cup-Shaped Nests, 7(2), 1-10.

- Heuck, C., Herrmann, C., Schabo, D. G., Brandl, R., & Albrecht, J. (2017). Densitydependent effects on reproductive performance in a recovering population of White-tailed Eagles Haliaeetus albicilla. *Ibis*, 159(2), 297–310.
- Hilde, C. H., & Christophe, P. (2016). Mind the wind : microclimate effects on incubation effort of an arctic seabird. *Ecology and Evolution*, 6(7), 1914-1921.
- Hilton, A. G. M., Hansell, M. H., Ruxton, G. D., Jane, M., & Monaghan, P. (2004).Using artificial nests to test importance of nesting material and nest shelter for incubation energentics. *The Auk, 121*(3), 777-787.
- IPCC. (2014). Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report. Contributions of Working Groups I, II, III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change [Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer (eds.)]. Geneva, Switzerland.
- Jaccard, J., & Turrisi, R. (2003). *Interaction Effects in Multiple Regression*. Sage Publications.
- Johnson, M. D., & Geupel, G. R. (1996). The Importance of Productivity to the Dynamics of a Swainson's Thrush Population. *The Condor*, *98*, 133–141.
- Kessel, B. (1989). Birds of the Seward Peninsula, Alaska: Their Biogeography, seasonality, and natural history. University of Alaska Press, Alaska.
- Kilpi, M., & Lindström, K. (1996). International Association for Ecology Habitat-Specific Clutch Size and Cost of Incubation in Common Eiders, Somateria mollissima, 111(3), 297–301.
- Kim, S.-Y., & Monaghan, P. (2005). Interacting effects of nest shelter and breeder quality on behaviour and breeding performance of herring gulls. *Animal Behaviour*, 69, 301–306.
- Kirkley, J. S., & Gessaman, J. A. (1990). Ontogeny of Thermoregulation in Red-Tailed Hawks and Swainson's Hawks. *The Wilson Bulletin*, 102(1), 71–83.
- Kleiber C., Zeilesis A. (2008). Applied Econometrics with R. New York: Springer-Verlag.

Kuyt, E. (1962). A record of a tree-nesting Gyrfalcon. Condor, 64, 508-510.

- Laux, C. M., Nordell, C. J., Fisher, R. J., Ng, J. W., Wellicome, T. I., & Bayne, E. M. (2016). Ferruginous Hawks Buteo regalis alter parental behaviours in response to approaching storms. *Journal of Ornithology*, 157(1), 355–362.
- Liebezeit, J., Rowland, E., Cross, M., & Zack, S. (2012). Assessing Climate Change Vulnerability of Breeding Birds in Arctic Alaska. A report prepared for the Arctic Landscape Conservation Cooperative, 167.
- Luck, G. W. (2002). The habitat requirements of the rufous treecreeper (Climacteris rufa). Preferential habitat use demonstrated at multiple spatial scales, *Biological Conservation*, *105*, 383–394.
- Mearns, R., & Newton, I. (1988). Factors Affecting Breeding Success of Peregrines in South Scotland. *British Ecological Society*, 57(3), 903–916.
- Mechnikova, S., Romanov, M., & Kudryavtsev, N. (2011). Change in Numbers and Nesting Ecology of the Gyrfalcon in the Yamal Peninsula, Russia, From 1981 To 2010. Gyrfalcon and Ptarmigan Proceedings, 205–212.
- Min, S., Zhang, X., Zwiers, Francis, W., & Hegerl, G. C. (2011). Human contribution to more-intense precipitation extremes. *Nuture Letters*, 407, 1–5.
- Møller, A. P., Balbontín, J., Dhondt, A. A., Remeš, V., Adriaensen, F., Biard, Camprodon, J., Cichoń, M., Doligez, B., Dubiec, A., Eens, M., Goodenough, A.E., Gosler, A.G., Gustafsson, L., Heeb, P., Hinsley, S. A, Jacob, S., Juškaitis, R., Laaksonen, T., Leclercq, B., Massa, B., Mazgajski, T.D., Nager, R.G., Nilsson, J., Å., Nilsson, S.G., Norte, A.G., Pinxten, R., Robles, H., Solonen, T., Sorace, A., van Noordwijk, A., Lambrechts, M.M. (2018). Effects of interspecific coexistence on laying date and clutch size in two closely related species of holenesting birds. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87(6), 1738–1748.
- Morris, D. W. (1987). Ecological Scale and Habitat Use. Ecology, 68(2), 245–462.
- Mumme, R. L., Bowman, R., Pruett, M. S., & Fitzpatrick, J. W. (2015). Natal territory size, group size, and body mass affect lifetime fitness in the cooperatively breeding Florida Scrub-Jay. *The Auk*, 132(3), 634–646.

Murdoch, W. (1994). Population Regulation in Theory and Practice, 75(2), 271–287.

- Naas, I. ., Gigli, A. C. S., Baracho, M. S., Almeida, I. C. L., & Salgado, D. D. (2009).
   Estimating the Impact of Environmental Conditions on Hatching Results Using Multivariable Analysis. *Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science*, 10(4), 215–222.
- Newton, I. (1991). Habitat variation and population regulations in Sparrowhawks. *Ibis*, *133*, 46–88.
- Nielsen, O. K. (1986). Population ecology of the gyrfalcon in Iceland with comparative notes on the merlin and the raven. Cornell University.
- Nye, P. A. (1964). Heat loss in wet ducklings and chicks. *Ibis*, 106(2), 189–197.
- Orains, G. H., & Wittenberger, J. F. (1991). Spatial and Temporal Scales in Habitat Selection, *137*, 29–49.
- Peirsma, T., Lindstrom, A., Drent, R. H., Tulp, I., Jukema, J., Morrison, R.I.G., Reneerkens, J, Schekkerman, H., Visser, G.H. (2003). High daily energy expenditure of incubating shorebirds on High Arctic tundra : a circumpolar study. *Functional Ecology*, 17, 356–362.
- Pewsey, A., Neuhauser, M., G. D. R. (2013). Correlation and Regression. Oxford University Press USA-OSO.
- Platt, J.B. (1976). Gyrfalcons nest site selection and winter activity in the western Canadian Arctic. *Canadian Field-naturalist.* 90, 338-345.
- Platt, J. B. (1977). The Breeding Behavior of wild and captive Gyrflacons in Relation to Their Environment and Human Disturbance. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University.
- Polak, M., & Kasprzykowski, Z. (2013). The effect of weather conditions on the breeding biology of the Eurasian Bittern Botaurus stellaris in eastern Poland. *Ethology Ecology and Evolution*, 25(3), 243–252.
- Poole, K. G., & Bromley, R. G. (1988a). Natural History of the Gyrfalcon in the Central Canadian Arctic. *Arctic*, *41*(1), 31–38.
- Poole, K. G., & Bromley, R. G. (1988b) Interelationships within a raptor guild in the central candadian Arctic. *Canadian Journal of Canada*, 66, 2275-2282.

- Reid, J. M., Cresswell, W., Holt, S., Mellanby, R. J., Whitfield, D. P., & Ruxton, G. D. (2002). Nest scrape design and clutch heat loss in Pectoral Sandpipers (Calidris melanotos). *Functional Ecology*, *16*, 305–312.
- Reid, J. M., Monaghan, P., & Ruxton, G. D. (2000). Resource allocation between reproductive phases : the importance of thermal conditions in determining the cost of incubation, *Proceedings of the Royal Society Land. B*, 267,37-41.
- Robinson, B.W., Booms, T.L., Bechard M.J., & Anderson, D.L. (2019) Dietary plasticity in a specialist predator, the Gyrfalcon (*Falco rusticolis*): New insights into diet during brood rearing. *The Journal of Raptor Research*, 53, 115-126.
- Romero, L. M., Reed, J. M., & Wingfield, J. C. (2000). Effects of weather on corticosterone responses in wild free-living passerine birds. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 118(1), 113–122.
- Royal, N. J., Smiseth, P. T., & Kölliker, M. (2012). *The Evolution of Parental Care*. Oxford, U.K.: Oxford University Press.
- Santos, E. S. A., & Nakagawa, S. (2012). The costs of parental care: A meta-analysis of the trade-off between parental effort and survival in birds. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 25(9), 1911–1917.
- Sinclair, A. R. E., Dublin, H., & Borner, M. (1985). Population regulation of SerengetiWildebeeest: a test of the food hypothesis. *Oecologia*, 65(2), 266–268.
- Stearns. S.C., (1992). The Evolution of Life Histories. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Steenhof, K., Kochert, M. N., McIntyre, C. L., & Brown, J. L. (2017). Coming to Terms About Describing Golden Eagle Reproduction. *Journal of Raptor Research*, 51(3), 378–390.
- Steenhof, K., & Newton, I. (2007). Assessing raptor nest success and productivity. *Raptor Research and Management Techniques*, (Table 1), 181–192.
- Stokes, D. L., & Boersma, D. P. (1998). Nest-Site Characteristics and Reproductive Success in Magellanic Penguins (Spheniscus magellanicus). *The Auk*, 115(1), 34– 49.

- Tape, K. D., Christie, K., Carroll, G., & O'Donnell, J. A. (2016). Novel wildlife in the Arctic: The influence of changing riparian ecosystems and shrub habitat expansion on snowshoe hares. *Global Change Biology*, 22(1), 208–219.
- Tape, K., Sturm, M., & Racine, C. (2006). The evidence for shrub expansion in Northern Alaska and the Pan-Arctic. *Global Change Biology*, 12(4), 686–702.
- Thomas, C. D., Cameron, A., Green, R. E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L., Collingham,
  Y.C., Erasmus, B.F.N., De Siqueira, M., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L.,
  Huntley, B., Van Jaarsveld, A.S., Midgley, G., Miles, L., Peterson, T., Phillips,
  O., Ortega-Huerta, & Williams, S. E. (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, 427, 145–8.
- Trenberth, K. E., Dai, A., & Rasmussen, R. M. (2003). The changing character of precipitation. American Meteorological Society, September, 1205–1217.
- Tschumi, M., Schaub, M., & Arlettaz, R. (2014). Territory occupancy and parental quality as proxies for spatial prioritization of conservation areas. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(5), 1–11.
- Viereck, L. A., Dyrness, C. T., Batten, A. R., & K.J., W. (1992). The Alaska Vegetation Classification. Portland OR.
- Weathers, W. W. (1985). Energy Costs of incubation in the canary. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology*, 81(2), 411–413.
- Webb, D. R. (1987). Thermal tolerance of avian embryos: A review. *The Condor*, 89 874–898.
- Webb, D. R., & King, J. R. (1983). An Analysis of the Heat Budgets of the Eggs and Nest of the White-Crowned Sparrow, Zonotrichia leucophrys, in Relation to Parental Attentiveness. *Physiology and Biochemistry, Society for Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 56(4), 493–505.
- Weimerskirch, H., Shaffer, S. A., Mabille, G., Martin, J., Boutard, O., Rouanet, J. L. (2002). Heart rate and energy expenditure of incubating wandering albatrosses: basal levels, natural variation, and the effects of human disturbance, 483, 475–483.

- Williams, J. B. (1993). Energetics of incubation in free-living Orange-breasted sunbirds. *The Condor*, 95, 115–126.
- With, K. A., & Webb, D. R. (1993). Microclimate of Ground Nests: The Relative Importance of Radiative Cover and Wind Breaks for Three Grassland Species. *The Condor*, 95(2), 401–413.
- Young, H. (1963). Age-Specific Mortality in the Eggs and Nestlings of Blackbirds. *The Auk*, 2, 145–155d.
- Zimmerman, J. L. (1959). A study of the Catbird in Southern Michigan. M.S. Thesis. Michigan State University.
- Zuur, A.F. (2009). Mixed Effects Models and Extensions in Ecology with R. Springer, New York.